# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Mississippi Supreme Court Cause No. 2008-KA-01457-SCT Rankin County Cause No. 17,779

DAVID ABERNATHY

APPELLANT

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Honorable Samac S. Richardson, Rankin County Circuit Court Judge
- 2. Joseph Patrick Frascogna, Attorney for the Appellant

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

David Abernathy is currently incarcerated and is being housed with the Mississippi Department of Corrections at the Winston-Choctaw County Regional Correctional Facility in Louisville, Mississippi.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

#### **ISSUE ONE**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE EXPERT TESTIMONY OF DR. KATZ AND AS A RESULT, ABERNATHY WAS DENIED A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS

#### **ISSUE TWO**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY UNFAIRLY LIMITING ABERNATHY'S EFFORTS TO PRESENT A FULL AND COMPLETE DEFENSE TO THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM IN VIOLATION OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO PRESENT HIS THEORY OF THE CASE

#### **ISSUE THREE**

THE EVIDENCE ELICITED AT THE TRIAL WAS WHOLLY INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY AND ABERNATHY'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE SHOULD BE REVERSED AND VACATED, RESPECTIVELY

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

David Abernathy, hereafter, "Abernathy," was charged by Grand Jury Indictment with the felony offense of Sexual Battery in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-95 (1) (a), and he waived arraignment on the charge and entered his plea of not guilty on August 24, 2006. (CP. 6 & 10) (RE. 13 & 14)

The incident charged in the indictment occurred on September 6, 2005, at the dwelling occupied by Justin Gordon, hereafter, "Gordon," and his then girlfriend, Jennifer Pigg, hereafter, "Jennifer." The events relevant to the charges herein took place at the Gordon home within the city limits of Pearl, Rankin County, Mississippi. (T.I. 48-49)

The victim of the sexual assault is Lori Fayette, hereafter, "Lori," and at the time of the incident was twenty-two (22) years of age. She was likewise a resident of Pearl, Mississippi, residing at 127 Greenfield Lane. (T.I. 49) As charged in the indictment, Abernathy was above the age of eighteen (18) years of age, having a birth date of July 11, 1962. (CP. 51-52; 59-63) (RE. 36-37; 42-46) It is noteworthy that Abernathy had no apparent criminal history at the time of the charges set forth in the indictment. (Ex. 1)

Detective Dewitt Seal, hereafter, "Seal," of the City of Pearl Police Department, was the primary investigating officer involved in this case and he was the first witness called by the state at Abernathy's jury trial. (T.I. 47-73) The trial was conducted on December 14, 2007, in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, and Seal informed the jury as to the particulars of his investigation, including the taking of statements from Lori, Jennifer and Gordon.

The proceeding resulted in a verdict of guilty as charged in the indictment and Abernathy was thereafter, sentenced to serve a term of thirty (30) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections with twenty (20) years to be suspended and to be placed on supervised probation for

a period of five (5) years upon release from incarceration. (CP. 51-52; 59-63) (RE. 36-37; 42-46)

Abernathy's post-trial motions for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict and New Trial were summarily denied by the circuit judge. (CP. 53-56; 66-67) (RE. 38-41; 49-50)

At trial the State called four (4) witnesses in its case-in-chief: Seal, Jennifer, Gordon and the victim, Lori Fayette (Kemp). Following Seal's testimony, Jennifer testified. (T.I. 74-115) At the time of the incident Jennifer was the live-in girlfriend of Gordon and at trial she relayed her version of the relevant events of the evening of September 6, 2005. On that date Jennifer was a student and Gordon's bride to be, and at times had also worked at Custom Products Corporation of Flowood where Gordon and Abernathy were employed. (T.I. 75-76) Gordon and Abernathy were co-workers, friends and golfing buddies.

Jennifer related that Gordon arrived home from work during the afternoon hours, packing a 12 pack of Bud Light and he was followed shortly thereafter by Abernathy, who likewise was toting a 12 pack of beer. All were assembled for a planned cookout. The plan was to grill steaks and put Abernathy up for the night due to his having been between residences.

At some time during the daytime hours of September 6, 2005, Jennifer had a conversation with Lori and it was agreed that Lori would also spend the night at the Gordon home due to her boyfriend being out of town, together with her fear of staying home alone in his absence. (T.I. 80-81)

Shortly after Lori had arrived at the Gordon residence, she became ill and developed a severe headache described by her as a migraine. (T.II. 179) She stated to having been previously diagnosed as suffering from the same by her personal physician, Dr. Roy B. Kellum,

M.D.<sup>1</sup> Jennifer saw to it that Lori could relax and rest in a spare bedroom where she eventually remained and retired for the evening. (T.I. 86-88)

Throughout the course of the evening, Abernathy frequently checked on Lori's condition as he was concerned for her well being. Eventually, he was instructed by Jennifer and Lori herself, to not be of any further bother.

Gordon's testimony was unremarkable and basically added nothing startling to the issues at bar. It has been agreed by all present that at or about 10:00 to 10:30 in the evening, all were retired for the evening and well on their way to sleep. Abernathy was located in the living room watching television, where he was to sleep on the sofa that evening.

It was after Jennifer and Gordon retired for the evening, when Lori stated that Abernathy entered the spare bedroom where she was resting and began to assault her sexually. She stated on direct examination that he climbed on top of her, pulled down her panties, spread her legs apart and placed his finger into her vagina, as well as touching her inappropriately on different parts of her anatomy. (T.II. 171-176)

Following Lori's testimony, the State rested. (T.II. 207)

Abernathy's motion for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case-in-chief was denied by the circuit judge. (T.II. 207)

Abernathy had planned to have three (3) witnesses, including himself, testify in his case-in-chief. One of the three witnesses to be called was Dr. Howard Katz who was to be called as an expert witness whose particular expertise encompassed the subject matter of migraine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Roy B. Kellum is a medical doctor with the Jackson Healthcare for Women, P.A., whose office is located at 1047 N. Flowood Drive, Flowood, Rankin County, Mississippi. Telephone No. (601) 932-4185.

headaches. After a very brief discussion, the judge disallowed for the moment, the testimony and as basis for his ruling, opined that there had been no medical testimony that Lori suffered from such headaches. Further, the judge recognized the appropriateness of a *Daubert* hearing and expressed his intentions to conduct one later in the trial. However, he completely neglected thereafter to reconsider the qualifications of Dr. Katz or even entertain an offer of proof as to what the substance of his expert testimony would be. Abernathy's request to allow Dr. Katz to offer expert testimony was denied. (T.II. 208-212)

The defense called Sandra Newman as its first witness. Sandra Newman was a coworker of Abernathy at Custom Products Corporation and her testimony was essentially one of bolstering Abernathy's good character. She had no first hand knowledge of relevant facts, however in spite of the allegations against Abernathy and what she had heard at the shop, her opinion of him had not changed and they remained good friends. (T.II. 214-221)

Abernathy testified and flatly denied having assaulted Lori, sexually or otherwise, and reaffirmed that his actions were honorable and solely an attempt to check on her well being.

After Abernathy had finished testifying, the defense rested. (T.II. 263)

The State called Gordon in rebuttal and his testimony added nothing remarkable or material to the allegations levied against Abernathy.

At the conclusion of Gordon's rebuttal testimony, the State finally rested. (T.II. 266)

The trial judge selected the instructions to be charged to the jury and following arguments of counsel, the jury retired for deliberations. (RE. 18-28) (T. 267-275)

The jury returned to the courtroom following deliberations and returned a verdict of guilty as charged in the indictment. (CP. 51) (RE. 36) (T.II. 294)

The jury was polled and the verdict declared unanimous by the court. (T.II. 294)

Abernathy filed post-trial Motions for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the Alternative Motion for a New Trial, and the same were denied by the trial court. (CP. 53-56; 66-67) (RE. 38-41; 49-50)

Abernathy was sentenced by the court and thereafter, timely appealed his conviction and sentence. (CP. 52; 60-63) (RE. 37; 43-46)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

It is abundantly clear from the documents filed in this cause by Abernathy, and his timely disclosure of his intention to utilize expert testimony at his trial. The prosecutor was timely noticed as to the expert and the substance of such testimony as was the trial court. The ability to place reliance on the expert testimony of Dr. Howard Katz, was crucial to Abernathy's readiness to present his theory of the defense to the trial jury as well as his desire and fundamental right to present a full and complete defense to the charges against him.

The trial judge's denial of the use of Dr. Katz was based on specified facts which were completely and fully contradicted by the testimony of the witnesses, and the evidence in the record. Abernathy was denied his fundamental constitutional right to present material witnesses to testify on his behalf, in violation of the Due Process Clause and the Sixth Amendment to the Unites States Constitution as well as the corresponding portions of the Mississippi Constitution.

Abernathy was ready, willing, able and fully prepared to respond to a *Daubert* hearing as tentatively scheduled at one time by the trial judge, at sometime during the course of the proceedings but he was never given an opportunity to so do. The trial judge unfairly neglected his gate-keeping role and erroneously denied, without hearing, the defense the benefit of Dr.

Katz's testimony. Dr. Katz possessed specialized knowledge, education and training beyond that of the average citizen and his expert testimony would have aided the trial jury in resolving the critical issues presented in the case. The trial court refused to provide a preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the proffered testimony was scientifically valid and whether that reasoning or methodology properly could have been applied to the facts at issue. It is academic that *Daubert* applies to all expert testimony. The court is a gatekeeper and must make a preliminary assessment as to whether the offered testimony is scientifically valid. This was not done in Abernathy's case and the denial is respectfully submitted to be plain reversible error.

Thus, the above and herein applies to two of the three issues raised on appeal: (1) the trial court's erroneous denial of expert witness testimony and, (2) the trial court's denial of allowing Abernathy to present his theory of the defense and to present a full and complete defense to the charges against him. The third issue raised on appeal is the insufficiency of the evidence presented undergirding the conviction and sentence imposed. The case is simply one of Lori's word against that of Abernathy's. There is absolutely no testimony or evidence corroborating Lori's version of the facts and therefore the conviction must not stand. The testimony of Gordon, Jennifer and Seal fails to offer any credible support to Lori's version of the events of the evening. There were no eye-witnesses to the charged acts, there were no confessions or admissions nor was there any rape kit performed or any other scientific evidence presented to support the verdict of the trial jury. If allowed to stand, the system fails.

In sum, the conviction and sentence of the court must fail and the same should be reversed and vacated, respectively.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE ONE**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE EXPERT TESTIMONY OF DR. KATZ AND AS A RESULT, ABERNATHY WAS DENIED A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS

#### A. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1. Abernathy had planned to have three (3) witnesses, including himself, testify in his case-in-chief. One of the three witnesses to be called was Dr. Howard Katz, who was to be called as an expert witness whose particular expertise encompassed the subject matter of migraine headaches. After a very brief discussion early in the trial the judge disallowed for the moment the testimony, and as basis for his ruling opined that there had been no medical testimony that Lori suffered from such headaches. However, the judge properly recognized the appropriateness of a *Daubert* hearing and expressed his intentions to conduct one at some point in time, later in the trial. However, the judge completely neglected thereafter to reconsider the qualifications of Dr. Katz, or to even entertain any offer of proof as to what the substance of his expert testimony would be and why it might be relevant to the facts at issue. The State successfully convinced the trial judge that any such testimony would not be relevant and would serve only to confuse the jury. As a result, Abernathy's request to allow Dr. Katz to offer expert testimony was eventually denied. (T.II. 208-212); *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals*, *Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2686 (1993)

2. Initial attempts to clear the way for Dr. Katz's expert testimony are best illustrated by the following portion of the record:

MR. MCBRIDE: Your Honor, it's my understanding the defense is wanting to call Dr. Katz as an expert in this case, and I believe he's in the courtroom right now –

THE COURT: Okay.

**MR. MCBRIDE:** – to which we would have an objection to. I think it's his motion so I will let him go first.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. FRASCOGNA: Your Honor, Dr. Howard Katz is here today and he's been noticed as an expert – as an expert witness in this case. Dr. Katz is an expert in migraine headaches. He's not here today to offer his opinion on what events were that night in September of '05.

All he's here to do is to discuss and explain what a migraine headache involves and the physiological events as well as psychological, generally, on those who suffer from it, and that has relevance in this case because the victim in this case has alleged that she was compromised physically because of the migraine headache and that she was unable to protect herself in some regard and to some degree from the defendant. She talks about faking a seizure or something.

Dr. Katz is basically here to merely explain what the migraine headache is and how it affects someone such as Ms. Fayette in this case.

MR. MCBRIDE: Judge, we would object and claim it's completely irrelevant. I think in this case, whether it was a migraine or not, it is not an issue.

As your Honor knows, the jurors, because of their qualifications, and sometimes they put a greater weight on their testimony just by the very fact the eh Court calls an expert. There's no – I don't think there's anyone in this courtroom, Dr. Katz included, who can say for sure she ever had a migraine headache or not. I don't think she was ever diagnosed with it. She wasn't feeling well. She went to bed the next thing you know she testified she wakes up with the defendant on top of her. I don't see how a discussion of a migraine headache is in any way relevant and I think it's going to sway the jury from the fact at issue so I would strongly object to having Dr. Katz testify.

**THE COURT:** Anything else?

(Motion by Mr. Frascogna)

MR. FRASCOGNA: Your Honor, the discussion of her migraine and the fact she was weak, she could not – pardon the court – she was too weak to get him off her and so forth. I would disagree with the State's assertion and say it is very much an issue of relevance in this case because she's made it one as far as describing her condition at the time of the alleged offense in the guest room.

THE COURT: Well, we're not going to get through this trial today. It's going to go into tomorrow at this point. But, I'm not going to rule on that right now. I'll do a Daubert hearing on it at the proper time. But we need to

get the rest of the testimony in and we can get it all in except Dr. Katz and then I'll do the Daubert hearing and ever long it takes, it takes. We're going to stay until we get through with it. I don't care if it's Sunday.

MR. MCBRIDE: Should Dr. Katz remain in the courtroom, judge?

THE COURT: I don't see what difference it would make at this point. I mean, what could he glean from this testimony that's going to help?

Nothing.

MR. FRASCOGNA: Nothing.

THE COURT: Then he can get outside the courtroom. There's no sense in him staying in here and being board by this.

Okay. Put the jury back in the box.

(Jurors enter the courtroom)

#### (T.I. 113-115) [Emphasis added]

- 3. Justifiably, Abernathy placed reliance on the assurances of the trial judge that the court would at some point during course of the trial, conduct a *Daubert* hearing and fulfill it's gatekeeping responsibilities concerning the proposed expert testimony of Dr. Katz. *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2686 (1993).
- 4. The trial progressed to the point at which the State rested it's case-in-chief after the testimony of the victim Lori Fayette. The court re-visited the issue of the expert testimony of Dr. Katz and made the following comments and ruling:

**THE COURT:** Okay. And how many witnesses have you got?

MR. FRASCOGNA: A total of, with Dr. Katz and the Defendant, will be three.

THE COURT: Okay. We'll go ahead and hear from Dr. Katz now since I've heard the testimony of the victim's witnesses. Tell me why you want to call Dr. Katz.

#### (Motion in limine.)

MR. FRASCOGNA: Your Honor, the victim in this case, just a few moments ago, said that she has been diagnosed, since high school, with a migraine headache condition of some sort. She has suffered from those since that age, since high school age. Dr. Katz is here to not — not to offer any kind of conclusion or expert opinion on what David Abernathy may or may not have been involved in at that house that evening, but merely to describe for the jury the migraine headache and what it means as far as its affect or possible effects on suffering and such.

THE COURT: Which would prove what? Which would prove or disprove what?

MR. FRASCOGNA: Your Honor, the migraine – the migraine headaches, and this is what Dr. Katz will show, migraine headaches are responsible for a wide variety of, let's say misperceived, misperceived events in one's life while they're having such. In other words, the sufferer of a migraine headache may perceive something about their environment that is not actually

there, which is not part of that environment, and testimony today would be merely to give case history an example of that and nothing more.

THE COURT: And are any of these people that he's going to give case histories on related to this victim?

MR. FRASCOGNA: No, sir.

**THE COURT:** Is that all? Anything else?

MR. FRASCOGNA: That's all, your Honor.

**THE COURT:** Mr. McBride, any response?

(Response by Ms. Williams.)

**THE COURT:** Ms. Williams?

MS. WILLIAMS: I just believe that this Dr. Katz will not assist the jury whether or not she had a migraine headache to determine the fact issue. I don't think that it's relevant. It's certainly going to confuse them. They're going to get off on this migraine headache stuff. We don't even know for sure there is any medical records about the diagnosis from her OB-GYN that diagnosed this headache.

**THE COURT:** They usually don't look at somebody's head.

MS. WILLIAMS: Exactly. I think it's just a ploy to confuse the jury by putting Dr. Katz up there and it is not relevant. You know, we don't know if it is a migraine headache. We don't know what type of migraine headache. Dr. Katz apparently has done some work on migraine disturbance on a brain injury, but I don't know what that has to do with the OB-GYN. He said it was a headache medication.

#### (Motion denied.)

THE COURT: Okay. Normally, you hold a Daubert or Delbert hearing to determine whether or not the evidence, testimony offered is — and whoever came up with the term, I don't particularly like it, but they want the courts to be the gate keeper to determine if it's junk signs. I don't believe for one minute that what Dr. Katz would testify to would be junk signs. But because we all know migraine headaches exists, there are different causes for them, and people react to them and in different ways.

That being said, my observation at this point is this that, (1) I hadn't heard any testimony that – of a medical nature that would classify this headache this lady had as a migraine headache. There's no medical testimony to that. She said she had a headache. She said that it – she used the term migraine headache to describe it. But other than her saying that, I don't know that it's a migraine. There's been no testimony to indicate that this lady has ever suffered from any hallucinations with or without a headache. We don't know the severity of the degree of the headache. There's no evidence about that.

Unless I'm told otherwise, I'm not sure that Dr. Katz knows what the medical history of this victim is, if it's ever even been reviewed by him. I don't know whether or not he's ever examined this victim.

Medications taken. The witness is not even sure what medication she's taken, whether – or what it was, so we don't know how that would affect this headache.

If Dr. Katz is going to testify as to generally the case histories and generally to how migraine headaches affect people, that doesn't mean that it affects this woman that way. It might. It might not. Unless you can come up with something to tie his testimony to this witness, it's not relevant as far as I'm concerned and I'm deciding it on a relevancy issue and not on a medical issue.

So with that, seat the jury and call your first witness. If you think you can get it to that point, that's, you know, I'll reconsider it. But at this point, I don't see how.

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