IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID ABERNATHY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1457

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Trial Court did not err in refusing the testimony of Dr. Katz as the testimony was irrelevant and Daubert did not apply.
- II. The Trial Court did not err in refusing to allow Dr. Katz' to testify since it was irrelevant and a trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case.
- III. The evidence at trial was sufficient to support the jury's verdict of guilty and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the Trial Court should be upheld.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about November 30, 2005, David Abernathy was indicted by the Rankin County
Grand Jury for the sexual battery of L.K. in violation of Section 97-3-95(1)(a) of the Mississippi
Code Annotated of 1972 (as amended). (C.P. 6) Abernathy was tried on or about December 14,
2007. The jury found him guilty of one count of sexual battery as charged in the indictment.
Abernathy was sentenced to 30 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections
with 20 years suspended. Abernathy was further sentenced to a term of five (5) years on
supervised probation to commence on his release from the Mississippi Department of
Corrections. Abernathy filed a Motion for New Trial which was heard on June 2, 2008. The trial
court entered it's order denying Abernathy's Motion for new Trial on July 23, 2008. (C.P. 66)
Abernathy filed his Notice of Appeal on August 8, 2008.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Clearly, before the trial court addresses the issues of whether the principles and methods of the expert witness are reliable, the trial court is first required to address the issue of relevance.

The trial court herein ruled that the evidence offered by Abernathy, the expert testimony of Dr. Katz regarding the general affect of migraines, was irrelevant to the case since it did not connect to the headache that the victim suffered. There was no medical evidence offered to show that L.K.'s headache on that evening was a migraine. Dr. Katz had not examined her or reviewed her medical record and therefore had no way of connecting his expert testimony to L.K.'s condition on that evening.

The Trial Court did not err in refusing to allow Dr. Katz' to testify since it was irrelevant and a trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case. A trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case. *Turner v. State*, 726 So.2d 117, 130 (Miss.1998). Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 charges the trial court with the role of "gatekeeper" in determining whether an expert's testimony is both relevant and reliable prior to allowing it to be presented to a jury. M.R.E. 702 cmt.; *Giannaris v. Giannaris*, 960 So.2d 462, 469-70 (Miss.2007).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence of the sexual penetration of L.K. to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis of Abernathy's innocence. The issue presented by Abernathy are without merit and the jury's verdict and rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court did not err in refusing the testimony of Dr. Katz as the testimony was irrelevant and Daubert did not apply.

"The standard of review regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of

discretion." *Morris v. State*, 963 So.2d 1170, 1175 (Miss.Ct.App.2007). "[A]bsent an abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal." *McCov v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 31 (Miss.Ct.App.2002)

At trial the victim, L.K., testified that she had a headache on the night the sexual battery occurred. She characterized the headache as a migraine, but did not offer any scientific evidence regarding the nature of the headache. She testified that she threw up twice and that she went to bed early. She took some non prescription headache medicine given to her by her host, Jennifer Gordon. She testified that she had been diagnosed with a migraine headache condition by her gynecologist. L.K. testified that she sometimes got headaches around her menstrual period and that it was related to hormone levels. She testified that she later discovered that she was six weeks pregnant at the time Abernathy committed the sexual battery against her. She did not know about the pregnancy at the time. She testified that she was not on any daily medications. She testified that when Abernathy was on top of her, fondling her and penetrating her vagina with his fingers, she could see him and identify him and recognized his voice. She could feel him on top of her and could feel him penetrating her. (Tr. 206)

In his case-in-chief, Abernathy offered the testimony of Dr. Katz "not to offer any kind of expert opinion or conclusion on what David Abernathy may or may not have done . . . but merely to describe for the jury the migraine headache and what it means as far as its affect or possible effects on suffering and such." (Tr. 208) Abernathy contended that migraine headaches are responsible for "misperceived events" by sufferers. (Tr. 208-09) The State noted that it was not certain that L.K.'s headaches were migraine headaches or, if so, what type they might be, and argued that the evidence was irrelevant. (Tr. 209-10)

The trial court ruled that (1) there had been no testimony of a scientific nature that would classify the headache that L.K. had that night as a migraine headache other than a lay persons's description; and, (2) there was no testimony to indicate that L.K. had ever suffered from any hallucinations with or without a headache. The trial court further noted that Dr Katz did not know the medical history of the victim and had not examined the victim (Tr. 211) The trial court therefore ruled that if Dr. Katz was going to testify generally as to case histories and the general affect of migraine headaches to sufferers, it would not tell the jury anything about the victim's headache. The trial court held that unless there was something to tie Dr. Katz' testimony to the victim, the testimony was not relevant. (Tr. 211)

For expert testimony to be admissible, it must be both relevant and reliable. <u>Miss.</u>

<u>Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore</u>, 863 So.2d 31, 38 (Miss. 2003). The testimony is relevant if it will "assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." M.R.E.

702. In determining whether the principles and methods used are reliable, <u>Daubert v. Merrell</u>

<u>Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.</u>, 509 U.S. 579, 592-94 (1993) provides "an illustrative, but not exhaustive list of factors that trial courts may use in assessing the reliability of expert testimony."

<u>McLemore</u>, 863 So.2d at 38. (citations omitted).

Clearly, before the trial court addresses the issues of whether the principles and methods of the expert witness are reliable, the trial court is first required to address the issue of relevance. The trial court herein ruled that the evidence offered by Abernathy, the expert testimony of Dr. Katz regarding the general affect of migraines, was irrelevant to the case since it did not connect to the headache that the victim suffered. There was no medical evidence offered to show that L.K.'s headache on that evening was a migraine. Dr. Katz had not examined her or reviewed her

medical record and therefore had no way of connecting his expert testimony to L.K.'s condition on that evening.

This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

II. The Trial Court did not err in refusing to allow Dr. Katz' to testify since it was irrelevant and a trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case.

It is within the sound discretion of the trial court whether to allow expert testimony. <u>Miss.</u> <u>Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore</u>, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss.2003). Its decision will not be disturbed unless this Court finds "that the discretion was arbitrary and clearly erroneous, amounting to an abuse of discretion." <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted).

It is certainly a correct statement of law that defendants have a fundamental right to present his or her theory of the case to the jury. Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223, 1225 (Miss.2007). However, a trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case. Turner v. State, 726 So.2d 117, 130 (Miss.1998). Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 charges the trial court with the role of "gatekeeper" in determining whether an expert's testimony is both relevant and reliable prior to allowing it to be presented to a jury. M.R.E. 702 cmt.; Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d 462, 469-70 (Miss.2007).

Nelson v. State, 995 So.2d 799 (Miss.Ct.App.2008) [emphasis added].

Further, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that while a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction that presents his theory of the case, this entitlement is limited by the court's ability to refuse a defense instruction that incorrectly states the law or lacks a foundation in the evidence. Howell v. State, 860 So.2d 704, 745 (Miss. 2003).

Dr. Katz' testimony was offered to show "the possibility that a migraine could cause a

person to inaccurately recollect events that unfolded during that period of time that the person was suffering from migraine headaches." (Tr. 301) However, there was not a sufficient basis in the testimony to support Abernathy's theory of the case. Dr. Katz had not examined the victim or viewed her medical records. There was no testimony from her doctor regarding the victim's diagnosis or symptoms. There was nothing in the record to show that the victim had ever had any sort of hallucination or mis-perceptions during a migraine. Further, Abernathy's counsel did not ask her on cross examination what her symptoms were. In short, there was nothing in the record to connect Dr. Katz's testimony to the victim's condition and therefore, the trial court correctly ruled both at trial and in the hearing on Abernathy's motion for new trial that Dr. Katz's testimony was properly excluded as irrelevant.

A defendant's is entitlement to present his theory of the case is limited where it lacks a foundation in the evidence. The trial court correctly excluded Dr. Katz' testimony as irrelevant. The jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should therefore be upheld.

III. The evidence at trial was sufficient to support the jury's verdict of guilty and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the Trial Court should be upheld.

The standard of review for the legal sufficiency of evidence is well settled. The reviewing court must, with respect to each element of the offense, consider all of the evidence-not just the evidence which supports the case for the prosecution-in the light most favorable to the verdict. The credible evidence which is consistent with the guilt must be accepted as true. The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. The court may reverse only where, with

respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 98 (Miss.2004) (quoting *Sheffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 123, 125 (Miss.1999)).

The verdict in this case was supported by the victim's testimony that Abernathy came into the bedroom where she was sleeping, pinned down her arms and proceed to commit sexual battery against her. She testified that she was clearly able to see him and to identify his voice. She testified that she could feel him on top of her and could feel his fingers penetrating her vagina. She testified that she faked a seizure in order to get Abernathy to stop his battery against her.

Further testimony established that Abernathy continued to make unwelcome advances to the victim over the course of the evening before she retired to the bedroom. He entered her room without permission to "check on her" and then after being told to leave her alone and stay out of her room by both the victim and the host, Abernathy again went unbidden to her room. He repeated through the course of the evening that he was going to sleep in the bed with her and that there was room in the bed and he should not have to sleep on the couch. The only reason there is no physical evidence against Abernathy is because the victim was able to prevent Abernathy from penetrating her with his penis.

Abernathy does not argue that he did not enter the victim's room that night, but that he did enter her room and that she tried to kiss him. It is no surprise that the jury did not believe this defense, since, according to three witnesses, Abernathy had been repeatedly been warned that his attention to the victim was unwanted.

Abernathy was charged with the sexual battery of L.K. pursuant to Mississippi Code

Annotated section 97-3-95(1)(a) (Rev.2006), which reads in pertinent part: "(1) A person is guilty of sexual battery if he or she engages in sexual penetration with ... (a) another person without his or her consent." Sexual penetration has been defined as the essential element of sexual battery. Johnson v. State, 626 So.2d 631, 632 (Miss.1993) (citing Thompson v. State, 468 So.2d 852, 853 (Miss.1985)). "Penetration, however slight, is sufficient to establish the penetration element of sexual battery." Burrows v. State, 961 So.2d 701, 706 (Miss.2007) (citing Johnson, 626 So.2d at 633). Sexual penetration includes "cunnilingus, fellatio, buggery or pederasty, any penetration of the genital or anal openings of another person's body by any part of a person's body, and insertion of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body." Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-97(a) (Rev.2006). Penetration does not need to be established by actual medical evidence. Wilson v. State, 606 So.2d 598, 600 (Miss.1992). Additionally, penetration, "need not be proved in any particular form of words, and circumstantial evidence may suffice." Lang v. State, 230 Miss. 147, 158-59, 87 So.2d 265, 268 (1956).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence of the sexual penetration of L.K. to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis of Abernathy's innocence. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The assignments of error presented by the Appellant are without merit and the jury's verdict and rulings of the trial court should be upheld.

Respecfully submitted,

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Laura J. Ledder

Laura H. Tedder,

Special Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General Post Office Box 220

Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0220

Telephone: (601) 359-3680